IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Received 10/17/2024 04:27 AM

ANDRE BECTON,

Appellant,

V.

UNITED STATES,

Appellee.

On Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia Criminal Division

OPENING BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

Gregory M. Lipper LIPPER LAW PLLC 1325 G Street NW, Suite 500 Washington DC 20005 (202) 996-0919 | glipper@lipperlaw.com

Counsel for Appellant

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

The parties have been represented by the following counsel:

	ANDRE BECTON	UNITED STATES (USAO DC)
SUPERIOR COURT: PRETRIAL & TRIAL	PDS: Lee Goebes (preliminary hearing) Jeffrey Stein (trial) Bernadette Armand (trial)	Lindsey Merikas Monica Trigoso Laura Bach

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED

These consolidated cases comprise Andre Becton's (1) direct appeal of his conviction for second-degree murder while armed, and (2) appeal from the denial of a § 23-110 motion asserting ineffective assistance of trial counsel. At trial, Becton admitted that he had shot and killed the decedent, but argued that he acted in self-defense. His appeal presents the following questions:

- 1. When evaluating prejudice from counsel's failure to file a meritorious motion to suppress evidence under the Fourth Amendment, does the prejudice inquiry (a) consider only theoretical consistency—whether the improperly admitted evidence could theoretically be reconciled with the theory of defense, or (b) also examine whether, in practice, the inculpatory evidence could have made the jury less likely to actually accept the defense?
- 2. When evaluating, as part of a prejudice inquiry, the strength of the government's case at trial, does overwhelming evidence on an undisputed issue (such as the shooter's identity) compensate for weak evidence on the disputed issue (such as whether the shooter acted in self-defense)?
- 3. When the government invokes a decedent's purportedly peaceful or jovial personality to argue that he did not act violently—even when he was the aggressor in the incident leading to his death—does a trial court err in barring the defense

from rebutting the government's personality-based evidence by introducing evidence that the decedent had previously committed multiple assaults?

4. Even if the individual errors would not entitle the defendant to a new trial, does the cumulative effect (of trial counsel's deficient performance and the trial court's improper exclusion of the decedent's past acts of violence) entitle the defendant to a new trial?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE & JURISDICTION

On July 12, 2017, Appellant Andre Becton was indicted for (1) first-degree murder while armed, (2) possession of a firearm during a crime of violence, (3) and unlawful possession of a firearm. R19 at 1–3. On April 4, 2019, the jury found Becton not guilty of first-degree murder while armed, but guilty of second-degree murder while armed and the other charges. R89. On October 4, 2019, Becton was sentenced to twenty-five years in prison. R95.

Becton filed a timely notice of appeal on November 1, 2019. R96. On direct appeal, he initially was represented by the Public Defender Service for the District of Columbia. On July 8, 2021, PDS moved to withdraw, to enable Becton to pursue a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel "based upon trial counsel's failure to file a motion to suppress evidence at trial." 7/8/21 Mot. 2.

With new appellate counsel, Becton moved for relief under D.C. Code § 23-110. PCR8. (Citations to the § 23-110 record are abbreviated PCR.) An evidentiary hearing was held on June 9, 2023; the trial court orally denied the motion on the same day and issued a written judgment on June 27, 2023. PCR22. On July 27, 2023, Becton filed a timely notice of appeal. PCR24.

The Court has consolidated Becton's direct appeal (19-CO-1026) and his appeal from the denial of relief under § 23-110 (23-CO-619).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Darnell Peoples is shot and killed after starting a verbal and physical fight with Andre Becton.

On the night of September 15, 2016, arrived at the 600 block of Mellon Street and met up with Darnell Peoples, her friend and drug dealer.

3/28/19 Tr. 28:21–29:14, 88:22–25. was trying to find someone willing to sell her crack cocaine. See, e.g., id. at 43:4–16. Peoples greeted her by saying, "They gonna to kill me. I know they out to kill me. They gonna get me. I know they are."

Id. at 29:15–19, 95:2–4. In fact, "nobody was trying to kill him" (id. at 95:7–9);

Peoples was experiencing "intoxication of PCP" (4/2/19 Tr. 64:1–14).

On the same night, Andre Becton visited the 600 block of Mellon Street with three friends. Becton, whom some people called Dre, grew up in the Trenton Park neighborhood. *See* 3/26/19 Tr. 125:8–25. Becton and his friends arrived in a

burgundy Mercedes with tag number EY5434, and parked behind a convenience store on the corner. *See id.* at 128:9–13, 131:24–132:9, 133:2–7, 136:5–17.

Becton and two of his friends had shared part of a small bottle of wine that day and were "a little tipsy." *Id.* at 142:9–14; *see also id.* at 176:1–10, 177:5–9.

Becton, however was not slurring his speech (*id.* at 174:17–23), was in a good mood (*id.* at 175:5–6; 3/27/19 Tr. 32:24–25), and was talkative and acting normally (*see id.* at 143:13–18). He joined an impromptu game of craps, played with two dice, down the street from Mellon Market. *See id.* at 144:23–145:8.

Peoples saw the craps game while crossing the street with "started shouting at that group." 3/28/19 Tr. 97:1–3. Craps players are "either bent over" or "kneeled down." *Id.* at 42:2–5. When Peoples saw them, he asked, "why did they have their asses in the air" and "why y'all showing your behinds? What y'all trying to do, screw?" *Id.* at 46:7–18. Then he used an antigay epithet: "You all faggots or something." *Id.* at 98:1–7. He continued: "What, you all want to get fucked or something? What's really going on?" *Id.* at 98:8–14.

The craps players asked Peoples "to leave them alone." *Id.* at 98:20–22. Several people, including Becton, stood up and told Peoples to leave. *Id.* at 46:19–23, 47:15–19. Peoples, however, "really wanted to talk to" Becton. *Id.* at 46:23–25. Becton told Peoples, "Go on about your business." *Id.*

at 99:4–7. Rather than leaving, Peoples "stepped up to" Becton and "got in [Becton's] face." *Id.* at 100:4–11. Peoples told Becton, "Man, you don't talk to me like that. You don't talk to me." *Id.* at 100:12–18.

Peoples then put his hands on Becton. While Becton pushed Peoples' hand out of the way, Peoples "grabbed him anyway." *Id.* at 48:3–4, 49:9-10. After Peoples grabbed Becton, "the tussling started." *Id.* at 105:2–4. Although Becton was eleven years younger than Peoples, Peoples was 1.5 inches taller and 34 pounds heavier. *See* R4 at 1 (Becton was 24 years old); 3/26/19 Tr. 59:22–25 (Peoples was 35 years old); 4/1/19 Tr. 128:11–14 (Becton was 5' 6" and 170 pounds); 4/2/19 Tr. 32:15–19 (Peoples was 5' 7" and 204 pounds).

During the struggle, Becton shot Peoples twice. 4/2/19 Tr. 36:2–6. The first shot entered his left thigh and exited the back of his right thigh. *Id.* at 40:22–41:8. The second shot entered the left side of his neck exited his back further to the left. *Id.* at 44:24–45:2, 51:11–18. Becton returned to the car and sat in the right rear seat, and the car drove away. *See id.* at 149:3–150:12. told detectives that the car was red with tags ending in 5434. *See* 3/28/19 Tr. 60:8–20, 62:21–23.

Shortly before midnight, police arrived and found Peoples lying on the ground bleeding. Peoples told a detective that "Dre" "from Trenton Park" had shot him. 3/26/19 Tr. 22:9–16. When asked why Dre had shot him, Peoples said

"because I was old" and that Dre "was shooting up everybody"; nobody reported anyone else getting shot. *Id.* at 22:19–24, 52:17–25. Peoples soon lost consciousness and died. *See id.* at 205:9–11.

Police recovered two shell casings from a 9-millimeter Lugar and a bullet fired by a Smith & Wesson firearm. *See* 4/1/19 Tr. 48:25–49:12, 50:4–9, 65:10–19. While searching the home of Becton's friend Demetrius Foreman, police found a Smith & Wesson 9-millimeter firearm, which Becton was carrying on the night of September 15, 2016. 3/27/19 Tr. 147:6–10; 153:22–154:3; 4/2/19 Tr. 68:11–21.

About a week after the shooting, a police officer saw a maroon Mercedes, with tag number EY5434, in a nearby residential neighborhood. 3/26/19 Tr. 201:3–24. Becton approached the officer, identified himself as the car's owner, consented to her request to search the car, and gave her the key. *Id.* at 202:1–18, 203:9–16.

On October 3, Becton sat for an interview with Detective Joshua Branson.

Becton answered questions without legal counsel. Detective Branson discussed the September 15 shooting and asked Becton whether he had shot Peoples in self-defense; Becton responded that "it was not self defense. It wasn't him." 4/1/19

Tr. 122:1–3. As Branson conceded, "there is a misconception" that "there's no such thing as a self defense law in Washington, D.C." *Id.* at 150:8–19, 151:2–6.

Detective Branson testified that he did his "best to make sure that Mr.

Becton didn't have a mistaken understanding of whether or not self defense law existed in D.C." *Id.* at 152:14–18. But in a second interview, later in October,

Becton stated that he did not believe that "there is a self defense law in D.C." *Id.* at 153:15–18. One of Becton's friends, who was with him on September 15, likewise believed that "if you shoot and kill someone, even if you're acting in self defense, you would be guilty of murder in the District of Columbia." 3/27/19 Tr. 48:14–23.

B. The government extracts and searches the contents of Becton's iPhone.

1. Detective Branson applies for a warrant to search Becton's iPhone.

On October 21, Becton was charged with murdering Peoples. R1 at 4. More than two months after the shooting, Detective Branson applied for a warrant "to search a white and silver apple iPhone . . . belonging to Andre Becton." PCR8, Ex. A at 1 (capitalization omitted) (A1). Detective Branson's six-page affidavit described the investigation of the shooting, Becton's arrest, and the difficulty of retrieving phone contents. *See id.* at 1–6 (A1–A6). But Branson did not describe what evidence he expected to find on the iPhone, or even why he believed it might hold evidence of crime. *Id.*

The affidavit's first four pages described the shooting, the police investigation, and how Becton became a suspect. *See id.* at 1–4 ("UNDERLYING")

INVESTIGATION") (A1–A4). Although this section summarized witness statements, police interviews with Becton, his clothing, and his car, Becton's iPhone was mentioned only once: "When Andre Becton was arrested, he was in possession of the aforementioned cellular phone to be searched." *Id.* at 4 (A4). This phone was "aforementioned" only in the affidavit's title. *See id.* at 1 (A1).

In a section entitled Affiant's Training, Detective Branson explained that "cellular telephones now offer a broad range of capabilities." *Id.* at 5 (A5). Those paragraphs did not mention Becton or the investigation. In the remaining three paragraphs, Branson averred that "[a]nalyzing electronic handheld devices for criminal evidence is a highly technical process requiring expert skill and a properly controlled environment." *Id.* The concluding paragraph was one sentence: "Based on the facts set forth in this affidavit, your affiant believes probable cause exists and respectfully requests that a Judge of the District of Columbia Superior Court issue a search warrant for the white and silver Apple IPhone bearing [the IMEI number], to recover the cell phone number, call log, phone book, any video recordings, any audio recordings, any photographs, text messages and voice messages." *Id.*

Detective Branson opined that he might need to "open[] every file and scan[] its contents briefly to determine whether it falls within the scope of the warrant." PCR8, Ex. A at 6 (A6). The application and resulting warrant also "did

not include any attachment" that would have "limit[ed] the warrant in any way by a date restriction." 6/9/23 Tr. 30:15–23. Instead, Detective Branson sought and received permission to review information from any time period, no matter how long before the shooting. *See* PCR, Ex. A at 7 (A7).

After receiving the warrant, the government conducted a "forensic cellphone extraction" and retrieved "[a]nything stored on the cellphone." 3/28/19 Tr. 183:14–16, 184:21–185:1. The extraction also retrieved some deleted items, because "when you delete stuff, it doesn't automatically go away." 3/28/19 Tr. 185:9–17. Detective Travis Barton searched the resulting 1500-page PDF for terms related to "self-defense." *Id.* at 187:14–17, 194:6–14.

Although the warrant "did not authorize a search for internet search history" (PCR13 at 33 n.17), the government extracted and reviewed Becton's Internet search history. Becton had searched various websites to see whether there were any warrants for his arrest. *See* 4/1/19 Tr. 132:7–17. The government also retrieved text messages in which Becton "is stating that he is getting an attorney because they took his car." 3/28/19 Tr. 17:2–8. Those messages were not shielded from prosecutors. *See id.* at 17:19–25, 196:20–197:4.

2. Trial counsel does not move to suppress the fruits of the iPhone search.

The application, warrant, and iPhone extraction were produced to Becton's trial counsel. 6/9/23 Tr. 9:4–17. Becton was represented by two lawyers from the Public Defender Service. His lead counsel was assigned to the case in March 2018. *Id.* at 7:24–8:9; R37. At the time, he was defending another murder case: The "so-called mansion murders," a "quadruple homicide that involved north of 50,000 different items of discovery." 6/9/23 Tr. 13:6–11, 13:21–14:4, 29:4–20. As trial counsel testified, "I just remember finishing that case [in late October 2018] and then having the tsunami of the rest of my caseload waiting for me." *Id.* at 14:5–11.

Trial counsel did not move to suppress the fruits of the cellphone search, but "it was not a strategic decision not to file that motion." *Id.* at 9:18–20, 11:9–10. If given the choice, trial counsel "would have preferred that [Becton's iPhone extraction] not be in evidence." *Id.* at 11:10–12.

C. At trial, Becton argues that he acted in self-defense.

1. Although the government emphasizes the shooter's identity, Becton's claims self-defense, not misidentification.

In its opening statement, the government previewed several pieces of evidence establishing that Becton was the person who shot Peoples. *See, e.g.*, 3/25/19 Tr. 274:7–275:3, 278:9–15 (color, model, and license plate of car, and video footage of car driving away); *id.* at 280:15–17 (testimony of Becton's friends); *id.* at

276:17–277:12 (type of gun used); *id.* at 279:1–10 (Peoples identified his shooter as "Dre, from Trenton Park," where Becton grew up). And "at the end of this case," predicted the government, "you'll know who the shooter was: Dre, from Trenton Park, the defendant, Andre Becton." *Id.* at 281:4–7.

Becton's opening statement claimed self-defense, not misidentification. As the defense explained, "This case isn't about whether Mr. Becton shot Darnell Peoples. This case is about why he had to." *Id.* at 281:17–19. In particular, "Mr. Becton could not allow this PCP-addled man who was agitated and aggressive and [had] become violent get control of that gun, so he struggled for that gun" and "struggled to keep control of it." *Id.* at 283:17–20. And when Peoples "lunged at Mr. Becton and the gun again," he "fired." *Id.* at 283:22–24.

2. Although Peoples started the fight with Becton, the government argues that Peoples is jovial and nonviolent.

Notwithstanding the testimony about Peoples' behavior on Mellon Street before the shooting, the government argued, "that doesn't make [Peoples] violent or aggressive." 4/3/19 Tr. 61:18-62:2. Over defense objection, moreover, the trial court allowed to testify that she had never seen Peoples "be violent" or "be aggressive" when "he's high." 3/28/19 Tr. 34:6-16.

According to the defense pharmacology expert, Dr. Ian Blair, Peoples was intoxicated to the same degree found in subjects suffering from PCP-related

behavioral effects—which include becoming "very aggressive and violent." 4/2/19 Tr. 107:23–108:2, 109:20–110:8. Dr. Blair added that PCP originated as "a great anesthetic"; one effect is that "you don't feel pain." *Id.* at 109:2–19. When crossexamined, Dr. Blair found it conceivable that the symptoms of PCP intoxication could be affected by the "user's personality traits." *Id.* at 119:6–14.

To identify Darnell Peoples' personality traits, the defense subpoenaed Cherie Peoples (his wife) and Ivory Gaskins (the mother of his child). 3/19/19 Tr. 6:1–12, 3/26/19 Tr. 71:3–10. Between 2013 and 2016, Cherie had accused Peoples of assault once and Gaskins had accused him of assault twice; the second assault took place less than seven months before the shooting. *See* R66 at 2–3 (A9–A10).

Date + Victim	Assault Details
Feb. 3, 2013 assault of Cherie Peoples	Peoples visited Cherie to watch the Super Bowl. R66 at 3 (A10). After she took Peoples home, Gaskins punched Cherie; Peoples then pushed Cherie "into a brick wall"—"striking her several times against the wall"—and fled into his apartment. <i>Id</i> . Peoples was arrested; the case was eventually dismissed for want of prosecution. R79 at 4–5.

Date + Victim	Assault Details
Feb. 17, 2015 assault of Ivory Gaskins	An argument with Gaskins "resulted in [Peoples] pinning [her] to the living room floor and striking her in the face"—with his child watching. R66 at 3 (A10). Gaskins suffered "a bruise to the forehead and left eye, a gash on her right arm, and ripped out eyelashes." <i>Id.</i> Peoples fled; Gaskins was hospitalized. <i>Id.</i> Gaskins sought a Civil Protection Order, which Peoples did not contest, but withdrew her request two months later. 3/25/19 Tr. 243:23–244:5 (A16–A17).
Feb. 17, 2016 assault of Ivory Gaskins	At 3 a.m., Peoples and Gaskins began arguing over child support. R66 at 2 (A9). Gaskins asked Peoples to leave; he refused and "began to choke" her. <i>Id.</i> Gaskins suffered "abrasions to [her] right arm, neck, left hand, [and] right hand." <i>Id.</i> at 2–3 (A9–A10).

The trial court excluded this evidence, believing that "there is certainly no probative value to those prior incidents." *Id.* at 242:23–243:3, 246:5–7 (A15–A16, A19).

On the first day of trial, Cherie testified that she had known Peoples for sixteen years, and he "was silly. He was funny. He liked to make people laugh. He liked to make people smile." 3/26/19 Tr. 58:25–59:14. According to Cherie, when she talked to Peoples on September 15, he was "[l]aughing, giggling, joking"— "like he normally do." *Id.* at 61:25–62:15. The defense argued that this testimony opened the door to evidence of Peoples' previous assaults, but the trial court again denied the defense request. *Id.* at 64:22–65:19 (A22–A23).

3. The government introduces Becton's T-Mobile phone records and documents extracted from his iPhone.

The government also presented evidence extracted from Becton's iPhone and phone records subpoenaed from his phone company. Detective Barton testified that he extracted the contents of Becton's iPhone and that it is "possible that some things are deleted and are not able to be extracted." 3/28/19 Tr. 183:14–16, 185:5–17. Yet deleting data from a smartphone does not affect "what would appear in, for example, call detail records obtained from a cellular provider." *Id.* at 185:22–25.

From Becton's cellular provider, T-Mobile, the government introduced records of Becton's "[i]ncoming and outgoing phone calls and text messages" from September 15 until September 17. *See* 3/27/19 Tr. 125:25–126:6, 128:13–17, 129:8–11. The jury was given "four communications, whether they be phone calls or text messages[,] that it appeared that Mr. Becton had deleted from his phone following the shooting." 6/9/23 Tr. 33:15–20. Also sent back with the jury were "several internet searches in which Mr. Becton had entered search terms or visited sites that would contain information about whether there was an outstanding warrant for his arrest." *Id.* at 33:20–24.

D. the sole eyewitness.

The government's main witness was the shooting. The shooting is doctors considered her to be an unreliable source of

information about her own history, and she conceded that sometimes she has "trouble remembering things reliably." 3/28/19 Tr. 135:11–136:9.

- 1. September 2016 and her use of crack cocaine on September 15, 2016.
 - a. is impeached after denying her history of hallucinating.

Before September 2016, had been diagnosed with schizophrenia and major depressive disorder with psychotic features. *Id.* at 124:10–17. These conditions made her paranoid and caused her to hallucinate; she would see ghosts and hear voices, including "commands to do bad things." *Id.* at 124:21–125:15, 125:19–126:3, 131:2–15. In 2013, told her doctor, "I see crazy people killing one another because they are sad or mad." *Id.* at 130:2–7.

At trial, however, she denied having hallucinated before September 2016 and denied having ever hallucinated people killing each other. *Id.* at 126:4–126:13. After reviewing her medical records, admitted to hallucinating several times before 2016. *See id.* at 132:14–133:3. continued to hallucinate after 2016. According to her medical records, in 2017 she reported seeing ghosts at her home and otherwise seeing and hearing things. *Id.* at 133:10–134:10. At trial, however, denied having hallucinated since September 2016. *Id.* at 133:4–9.

b. is impeached after denying that she was failing to take her antipsychotic medicine.

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