Clerk of the Court
Received 02/27/2025 10:43 AM
Filed 02/27/2025 10:43 AM

BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
COURT OF APPEALS

Nos. 19-CF-1026 & 23-CO-619

ANDRE BECTON,

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT
OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
CRIMINAL DIVISION

EDWARD R. MARTIN, JR.
United States Attorney

CHRISELLEN R. KOLB

DANIEL J. LENERZ

LINDSEY MERIKAS

MONICA TRIGOSO

TRACY SUHR

* MARK HOBEL

D.C. Bar #1024162

Assistant United States Attorneys

* Counsel for Oral Argument

601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232

Washington, D.C. 20530

Mark.Hobel@usdoj.gov

(202) 252-6829

Cr. No. 2016-CF1-17315

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

Becton also overstates the extent to which the government relied on the phone evidence (Br. 35-36). The government did not devote any time during its case-in-chief to reviewing the phone records with witnesses, beyond moving them into evidence (4/3/19 Tr. 76). And it discussed them only briefly in closing. The government’s closing argument covered approximately 44 pages of transcript and its rebuttal covered 12 pages (*id.* at 50-94, 137-49). The government mentioned evidence from Becton’s phone extraction on only six pages of transcript for the closing and none for the rebuttal (*id.* at 71-73, 75-76, 91). Becton argues that “a prosecutor’s emphasis on certain evidence” is “a highly relevant measure of the

prejudicial impact of that evidence” (Br. 36 (quoting *Porter v. United States*, 37 A.3d 251, 261 (D.C. 2012))). That principle cuts against him here, where the government did not even bring the potential deletions to the jury’s attention until closing argument, and then only briefly. *Cf. Porter*, 37 A.3d at 260 (noting that government “emphasized [the disputed] evidence during opening, closing, and rebuttal arguments,” and during the “direct testimony” of two key witnesses).⁹

II. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion in Precluding Evidence of Prior Domestic-Violence Allegations against the Decedent.

A. Additional Background

During pretrial discovery, the government disclosed information about three domestic-violence allegations against the decedent, Darnell Peoples (A.9-10). In February 2013, Peoples intervened in a confrontation between his wife, Cherie Peoples (“Cherie”), and the mother of his child, Ivory Gaskins (A.10). Cherie reported to police that Gaskins “showed up and punched” her, and that Peoples “responded by holding [Cherie] back and subsequently pushing [Cherie] forcefully against a brick wall,” causing Cheri to bang her head (R.901-02 (Gov’t Mot. 4-5)).

⁹ Although Becton does not distinguish his convictions, he plainly cannot demonstrate prejudice as to his felon-in-possession conviction. Becton stipulated that he possessed a gun and had previously been convicted of a crime punishable by imprisonment for a term exceeding one year (4/2/19 Tr. 68-69).

Peoples was arrested and charged with assault, but the case was ultimately dismissed for want of prosecution (*id.*; A.10). In February 2015, Gaskins reported that Peoples came to her residence and argued about their child in common, “pin[ned] her” to the floor and “str[uck] her in the face,” and then “fled” (A.10). Only Gaskins was interviewed by police, Peoples was not arrested, and no charges were brought against him (R.907 (Gov’t Mot. 4)). In February 2016, Gaskins reported that she and Peoples “got into a verbal altercation over child support,” Peoples “refused” to leave Gaskins’s residence, “then began to choke” Gaskins,” resulting in “a struggle” followed by Peoples’s departure (A.9-10). As before, only Gaskins was interviewed, Peoples was not arrested, and no charges were brought (R.906-07 (Gov’t Mot. 3-4)).

After learning that the defense had subpoenaed Cherie and Gaskins, the government filed a motion in limine to preclude “evidence of the decedent’s alleged prior bad acts or reputation for violence” (R.904, 906 (Gov’t Mot. 1, 3)). The government argued that the “three domestic incidents are dissimilar from the instant offense and do not establish that the decedent was the initial aggressor” (R.908 (Gov’t Mot. 5)). After hearing argument, the trial court granted the government’s motion (3/25/19 Tr. 240-46). The court “rel[ied] principally” on *Shepherd v. United States*, 144 A.3d 554 (D.C. 2016), and found that the three incidents “d[id] not meet the admissibility standard under Rule 403” (3/25/19 Tr. 243). In making its determination, the court first considered that none of the incidents “resulted in any

conviction” (*id.* 243-44). Regarding the February 2013 incident, the court “reviewed the Gerstein” and did not find “any conclusion to be drawn that Mr. Peoples initiated that altercation, escalated that altercation or would make it more likely than not that he was the initial aggressor in connection with his interaction with Mr. Becton” (*id.* 244); instead, what “the Gerstein establishe[d] is that this was initially a physical altercation between Gaskins and [Cherie] to which Mr. Peoples physically inserted himself” (*id.*). Moreover, the incident was “remote in time” (*id.*). The court also considered “the nature of the prior conduct and whether it b[ore] any sort of factual similarity to what’s at issue here,” and found that it did not; “all of those prior incidents were within the context of a domestic relationship,” while Peoples and Becton “were basically not acquaintances other than by sight and name to one another” (*id.* 245). The court also found “no indication in these earlier incidents that Mr. Peoples was intoxicated or under the influence of PCP or any other illicit substances” (*id.*). After considering these factors, the court concluded that the domestic-violence allegations had “no probative value” and “would also be misleading and confusing to the jury,” “run a substantial risk of having three to four little mini trials,” and “would be unduly prejudicial in that the jury would just be left to speculate or conclude that as a result of Mr. Peoples being in a domestic violence relationship that it’s more likely that he was the first aggressor here” (*id.* 245-46).

The government called Cherie to testify on the first day of trial as Peoples's next of kin (3/26/19 Tr. 58). Cherie testified that she had been married to Peoples for five years and had two children with him (*id.* 59-60). When asked why Peoples—whose first name was Darnell—went by the nickname “Kirk,” Cherie responded, “Because he was silly. He was funny. He liked to make people laugh. He liked to make people smile.” (*Id.* 59.) Cherie testified that she and Peoples had “separated previously” but “got back together” in the “last six months of his life,” and that she spoke on the phone with and texted Peoples on the night that he was killed (*id.* 60-61). The prosecutor asked Cherie about Peoples's “demeanor” when she spoke to him on the phone, and Cherie replied, “He was okay. He was fine. He was happy. Laughing, giggling, joking like he normally do.” (*Id.* 62.)

After Cherie's direct examination, defense counsel asserted that there had been “some links” to “the prior acts” because the government “put up this witness to establish their relationship, that they're together for all this time” and “paint[ed] a certain picture of their relationship” (3/26/19 Tr. 64-65). Defense counsel argued that Cherie's testimony had “open[ed] the door for us to get into the prior incident in which the police [were] called involving another women who was in the relationship” (*id.* 65). The trial court asked, “What purpose would that be admissible?”, and defense counsel responded, “At this point, we're impeaching a picture [that the] witness created regarding her relationship” (*id.* 65). The trial court

denied the defense request to cross-examine Cherie about the February 2013 incident, but allowed the defense to question Cherie about Peoples's extramarital relationship with another woman at the time of his death (*id.* 65-67).

B. Applicable Legal Principles

“[A]n accused claiming self-defense in a homicide prosecution may attempt to show that the decedent was the aggressor by showing that the dead person was a bellicose and violent individual.” *Shepherd v. United States*, 144 A.3d 554, 558 (D.C. 2016). “For this purpose, the accused may present evidence of prior acts of violence committed by the victim even if unknown to the accused.” *Id.* (internal quotation marks omitted). This Court reviews the preclusion of such evidence for abuse of discretion. *Id.* at 559, 561. “Even if proof of prior acts of violence is arguably relevant and admissible, the trial court is entrusted with broad discretion to determine the substance, form and quantum of evidence which is to be presented to a jury, and may exclude the proffered evidence if its probative value is outweighed by the danger of undue prejudice.” *Id.* at 559 (internal quotation marks omitted). “This [C]ourt has evaluated the following factors when balancing the probative value and prejudicial impact of first aggressor evidence: the form of proof (accusations or convictions), whether presenting it would waste trial time or confuse the issues, remoteness in time, the decedent's character in the interim, and the ‘type’ of violence evidence by the prior act.” *Id.*

C. Discussion

Becton claims that the trial court abused its discretion in “barring [him] from introducing evidence of Peoples’ prior assaults” (Br. 45-49). But the court’s pretrial ruling precluding Becton from presenting this “first aggressor evidence” was a reasonable exercise of its discretion under *Shepherd*. The court reasonably determined that the majority of *Shepherd* factors weighed against Peoples: (1) the “form of proof” was “accusations,” not “convictions,” and only the February 2013 incident resulted in an arrest; (2) any defense effort to present this evidence “would waste trial time [and] confuse the issues,” *id.*, risking several “mini trials” on the domestic-violence allegations against Peoples; and (3) the allegations were dissimilar, involving domestic violence and not involving PCP intoxication (3/25/19 Tr. 245). *See Shepherd*, 144 A.3d at 560 (endorsing “the sound principle that prior acts of violence have more probative value when they are similar in kind to the events on trial”). The court also considered that the February 2013 incident—the only one that resulted in arrest—was “comparatively remote in time” (3/26/19 Tr. 244). Here, as in *Shepherd*, “[g]iven the limited probative value of the first-aggressor evidence and the likelihood that it would confuse or prejudice the jury,” 144 A.3d at 561, the trial court reasonably exercised its discretion in precluding Becton from presenting evidence of domestic-violence allegations against Peoples to show that

Peoples was the first aggressor in a confrontation between acquaintances on a public street.

Becton does not meaningfully contest the trial court's application of *Shepherd*; he argues, however, that he was "incorrectly barred" from countering Cherie's testimony "that Peoples was a nonviolent jokester" (Br. 45, 47). Cherie's testimony did not "open[] the door" to the domestic-violence allegations to rebut evidence that Peoples was a "peaceful" person (Br. 13, 30), because Cherie did not provide such evidence. Although Cherie stated that Peoples was "funny" and "liked to make people laugh," she never testified that he was peaceful or nonviolent (3/26/19 Tr. 59). There is no axiomatic contradiction between being a "joker" and having a propensity for violence—as anybody with glancing pop-culture familiarity would recognize. *Cf.* *The Dark Knight* (Warner Bros. Pictures 2008) (chronicling the rise of the Joker, who "just want[ed] to watch the world burn"). Moreover, defense counsel proffered to the trial court that cross-examination about the February 2013 incident was necessary to "impeach[] a picture" that Cherie's testimony had "created regarding her relationship" with Peoples at the time of his death (3/26/19 Tr. 65)—*not* to rebut any implication that Peoples was a peaceful person. Relying on counsel's proffer, the trial court reasonably precluded Becton from cross-examining Cherie about an incident that had occurred three and a half

years earlier, while allowing inquiry about Cherie's knowledge of Peoples's extramarital relationship at the time of the murder (*id.* 65-67).

Becton also suggests that he was entitled to present evidence of the domestic-violence allegations because “no other admitted evidence already” showed that Peoples was an “aggressive and violent” person (Br. 48). The trial court reasonably determined, however, that any “minimal” probative value was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice from “inflammatory details” that bore “at most a tenuous link” to “the point in contention here,” and the time-wasting potential of several mini-trials. *Shepherd*, 144 A.3d at 560-61. A defendant “does not have an unfettered right to offer testimony that is . . . otherwise inadmissible under standard rules of evidence, and well-established rules of evidence permit trial judges to exclude evidence if its probative value is outweighed by . . . unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or potential to mislead the jury.” *Heath v. United States*, 26 A.3d 266, 275-76 (D.C. 2011) (cleaned up). That Becton could not produce other, more on-point propensity evidence against the man he killed does not excuse him from application of the ordinary rules of evidence and this Court's deferential standard of review. *See Shepherd*, 144 A.3d at 561 (“The concept of ‘exercise of discretion’ is a review-restraining one.”).

Becton acknowledges that there was no evidence of PCP intoxication in connection with the domestic-violence allegations against Peoples, but argues that

this dissimilarity weighs in his favor because “PCP intoxication makes people more violent” (Br. 49). The *Shepherd* factors, however, reflect the commonsense inference that a decedent’s prior violent act which occurred in circumstances “similar” to the fatal confrontation with a defendant—including whether the decedent was intoxicated on both occasions—is more probative propensity evidence than a prior act in “dissimilar circumstances.” 144 A.3d at 559-60. Thus, in balancing the probative value of the domestic-violence allegations against the danger of unfair prejudice, the trial court reasonably assigned the allegations less probative weight because they did not involve PCP intoxication, which was a centerpiece of the defense theory.

Finally, “[e]ven if there were imperfections in the trial court’s exercise of discretion,” Becton “suffered no significant prejudice” and any error was harmless. *Shepherd*, 144 A.3d at 561. The principal issue at trial was whether Becton actually and reasonably believed that he needed to use deadly force to defend himself from an imminent threat of death or serious bodily harm when Peoples tried to make amends for his tasteless jokes and hug Becton. In confronting that issue, no reasonable juror would rely on murky and unproven domestic-violence allegations against the decedent. As already discussed, moreover, the evidence against Becton was overwhelming. Additionally, had Becton been allowed to cross-examine Cherie about the February 2013 incident, there was substantial danger that Cherie would

have described Peoples's actions as an attempt to prevent an altercation between Cherie and Gaskins—a plausible interpretation, as the trial court recognized (3/25/19 Tr. 244). That would have played directly into the hands of the government's theory that Peoples was trying to deescalate the situation when Becton shot him. As to the incidents involving only Gaskins, it is common for witnesses to recant domestic-violence allegations, *cf. Nixon v. United States*, 728 A.2d 582, 591-92 (D.C. 1999) (citing authority on the “recantation phenomenon of domestic violence”), and Gaskins's unsworn hearsay statements to police would not have been admissible for their underlying truth if Gaskins provided inconsistent testimony at trial. *See* D.C. § 14-102; *Brooks v. United States*, 448 A.2d 253, 259 (D.C. 1982). Becton also fails to consider that, had he successfully offered evidence to establish “the character of the deceased” for “bellicose[ity] and violen[ce],” *Shepherd*, 144 A.3d at 558, the government could have offered rebuttal evidence of Becton's own violent propensities. *See* Fed. R. Evid. 404(a)(2)(B)(ii) (“[A] defendant may offer evidence of an alleged victim's pertinent trait, and if the evidence is admitted, the prosecutor may . . . offer evidence of the defendant's same trait.”). Becton was particularly vulnerable on this point: he had previously pled guilty and acknowledged shooting two men in the back as they “r[a]n away” from him following an altercation (23R.96 (2009 Proffer of Facts)). Evidence of those convictions would have been far more

probative of Becton's violent nature than the domestic-violence allegations were of Peoples's.¹⁰

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